Lowveld, (South Africa and Swaziland) Zimbabwe and Mozambique.  July / August 2012
Thursday July 12th
We’d spent a couple of days packing the bakkie and trailer, taking our time and altering the position of some stuff to make it easier to get to.  

We left Richmond at 8.30am and drove north to the Swaziland border (480km) stopping at Gateway Mall to do a bit of shopping and arrived at Phongola Nature Reserve at 3pm.  We booked in (no problems this time) and drove to the campsite.  There were some sites near the dam but there were already a few caravans there so we picked the shadiest of the bush campsites which still had a view of the lake.  There was a group of giraffes munching the acacia trees nearby but they moved off once we parked up and set up camp.  

It had been cloudy when we left Richmond and on the N2 north of Durban there was some rain but it cleared up as we drove north however it remained cloudy.  Around 5pm the clouds started to look ominous so we put the awning up however by 6.30pm it had cleared up and the stars were out.  We had a good fire going and didn’t need to put on tracky bottoms during the evening.

Friday July 13th
We decided to stay at Phongola for another night.   After breakfast we had a walk down towards the dam where we could see a large family of warthog and loads of guineafowl.  Later we drove back to the gate, to pay for another night, and then around some of the tracks of the small reserve.  We saw lots of giraffes including a female with twins.  There were also plenty of impala and warthog, several groups of zebra, a few tsessebe and some white rhino.  Most of the game was on the open land near the dam.
W spent the afternoon at our campsite.  

Saturday July 14th
We only had 150km plus a border crossing today so we could take our time packing up.  A couple of warthog were around our site for much of the morning and were obviously used to people.  
Once on our way we were very quickly through the both border crossings –we didn’t have to fill in anything for the vehicle at either checkpoint.  We then drove north to Mbulazi Game Reserve stopping at a Shoprite for a few provisions.  We booked in for 3 nights and drove to the campsite which is near to the river and has 3 reed enclosed bomas. We picked the largest one, which we were able to drive into, and after a late lunch set up camp.
In the afternoon we had a walk down to the river but apart from that stayed at the site – just us there although the guy at the entrance gate had said that they were expecting a group of 10 to arrive.

Sunday July 15th
After breakfast we had a drive around the northern section of the Reserve.  We didn’t see any game apart from a couple of giraffe but had some good views of the river.  We stopped at a bird hide overlooking a small dam –several birds around but no game – and then returned to the campsite for lunch. 
I spent a bit of time in the afternoon identifying trees around our site.  After our Zim 4x4 trip I’d decided that I most try to get better at identifying trees and, a couple of weeks ago, had bought a book which showed how to identify trees primarily from their leaves.  I’d always thought that the shape of the tree was the most important aspect however, according to the book that I’ve got; it’s the leaves that should be used.  I picked leaves from 3 trees nearby and followed the flow chart in the book and managed to identify 2 of them – a bushwillow (combretum) and a monkey-orange.
Late afternoon we drove up to the viewpoint to watch the sun going down.  We saw a group of 5 giraffe at the top of the ridge.
Another clear evening with a big log fire (there’s plenty of free firewood provided at each boma) and good stargazing.

Monday July 16th
After breakfast we spent the morning exploring the southern section of the Game Reserve, which is smaller and has several lodges near the river but seems to have more animals, we saw giraffe, nyala, kudu, impala, baboons and warthog.  There are also several walking trails.
Tuesday July 17th
Up early as we needed to be at Arathusa (350km plus a border crossing) by 2pm.  We were at the entrance gate to Mbuluzi at 7.30am and it took us 6 hours to get to Arathusa.  The border crossing was a good half hour this time, we were quickly through the Swaziland immigration but seemed to take ages on the South African side – we had to fill in a form, go to immigration (but at least I did get another 3 months!) and then at the customs and excise office they wanted passports and electronic signatures from both of us but, apart from the registration number nothing about the car or trailer! At every border post we get different things to do!!  Anyway we got to Arathusa at 1.30pm so had time to settle into our chalet (number 3 again) so right next to the dam which is quite full after the storms that they had back in January (it was overflowing then apparently).  Lunch was at 2pm (excellent of course) and then our first game drive at 3.30pm.  Our ranger is Phil and our tracker is Rifos – Phil actually remembered us and that we had a Richmond connection which is pretty impressive considering the amount of guests they have – he remembered us from 2 years ago because of having to be rescued by Hannes when the wheel came off the Prado!  Ryan, who was our ranger last time, is currently on leave.  We had a great drive and saw lion, elephant, buffalo, leopard, zebra, impala, kudu etc, etc!    The buffalo herd must have had 300 – 400 animals – just huge.  The lions were quite close lying in the shade but the buffalo ignored them until one of the lionesses got up – then the buffalo quickly moved on.  However the lions didn’t move far.  There was a pride of 7 lions, 3 adult females and 4 cubs – there are usually 4 adults and 5 cubs but Phil said that 1 of the cubs had been badly injured by other lions and may have died and that the lioness had probably gone off alone to give birth and that she would stay away from the pride until the cubs were about 6 weeks old.  In the evening we followed a female leopard while she was hunting, she wasn’t at all bothered by the 3 vehicles following her through the bush.  If we picked up antelope’s eyes in the vehicle headlights all the vehicles stopped, turned off their engines and lights so we wouldn’t give her presence away.  This happened twice.  The first time, after a couple of minutes we heard the impala giving their alarm call and they then ran off so we continued following the leopard and again, when we spotted a group of impala up ahead we all stopped.  Once again we heard alarm calls and when we switched the lights back on and moved on could see that the leopard must have run into a large group of impala and that they had run off in all directions.  Phil said that this was a tactic used by the leopard to get the impala to split up and go into the bush so it was easier for her to sneak up on them.  After this we didn’t see the leopard again as the bush was too thick to follow her – what a wonderful sighting!
We were late back for dinner but none of us minded (we’d happily have stayed out longer!)  Once again the food was excellent – even better than 2 years ago....
Wednesday July 18th
We were woken at 5.30am and after coffee and rusks set off at 6am.  It was very cold and we were pleased to find that hot water bottles are now provided on the morning game drives – an excellent idea!  Once again we had a great drive.  We saw a group of 4 male rhino quite close to the lodge and the pride of 7 lions again.  This time they were all lying out in the open at the side of a runway so we had a good view of all of them and sat a watched them for quite a while.  
After breakfast 1 went on a walk with Phil and Thomas and Martine, a French couple, who we got on well with – Kevin didn’t come as he was still suffering a bit from gout.  Phil is an interesting and very knowledgeable guide with lots of experience so it was great walk with him and learn a bit more about the bush. 

Another wonderful drive in the afternoon.  We once again saw the huge herd of buffalo.  This time Phil was able to drive into the middle of the herd where there were lots of young buffalo.  He then stopped and we sat and watched them all around us – it’s lovely to be able to do that and not something that we’d ever be able to do on our own.  After dark we returned to the airfield and found the lions who’d moved into the shade since this morning.  As the light faded they started to move out into the open area and a couple of the cubs started paying on an old tree, it’s such a privilege to be able to sit and watch them.  There were plenty of other good sightings as well – zebra, kudu, giraffe, impala.
Thursday July 19th
Another drive with superb sightings – we’ve been so lucky over the past couple of days.  We twice saw rhino, saw several groups of male buffalo (dagha boys!) and, best of all, a female cheetah that we watched for ages.  Our first sighting of her was very brief, she was on the road up ahead of us but immediately moved onto the bush and then, suddenly, started running after a steenbok and was immediately out of sight.  We tried to find her in the bush but no luck.  However a little later we returned watched her walking through the bush and then up onto a termite mound where she sat and then lay down so we were able to sit and watch her for ages – brilliant!  Phil was delighted to see her as he said that they only occasionally saw cheetah (about once every 3 months on average).

Originally I’d booked 2 nights but we’ve asked to stay another night and, luckily, they had room for us – and we didn’t even have to move chalets.

 We had another fantastic drive in the afternoon, the highlight was following a male leopard while it was scent marking its territory and hunting in the late afternoon.  We must have been with it for an hour or so (just us there as well).  It tried to sneak up on a group of impala but some vervet monkeys saw the leopard and started alarm calling which put the impala on guard.  They didn’t run away but just stood and looked towards the leopard as if to say ‘we know you’re there so don’t bother with us’!  Phil took us to a hyena den where he knew there were cubs but only the female was outside relaxing in the sun.
Once again the food today has been wonderful.  Breakfast and lunch are mostly help yourself meals so you can pick and choose what you have.  The evening meal is 4 courses, a starter, fish, main and desert but the portions aren’t too large and everything is beautifully presented.  Every day there’s been game on the menu, we’ve had warthog burgers, kudu streak, and an impala and crocodile starter.
Friday July 20th
I can’t believe how lucky we’ve been on all our drives, once again we had a great time this morning spending the best part of an hour following the same group of lions that we saw a couple of days ago.  This time the cub that they thought had been badly injured was back with the pride and although it had some bite marks on its back it seemed to be walking OK and was keeping up with the rest of them.  There was also a young male lion (3 years old) with the pride but he was badly injured, he had a broken back leg and his left eye was gone so it’s not likely that he’ll survive much longer.
After breakfast we packed our things away and showed Phil and Rifos the bakkie and trailer.  We then stayed around in the lounge area as we were only travelling 60km to Klaserie and while we were there 2 groups of elephants came to drink at the waterhole – how lucky is that!
We’ve had an amazing time at Arathusa and been incredibly lucky with our sightings and with having an excellent ranger and tracker in Phil and Rufus who somehow seem to know the direction the animals we were following would travel in.  Phil was a mine of information and, hopefully, some of it we’ll remember.  
We arrived at Klaserie Dam campsite in the middle of the afternoon having stopped in Acornhoek to do a bit of shopping –very busy on a Friday afternoon.  The campsite is right next to the dam and there were plenty of sites to choose from.
We had an early tea (burgers) and an early night after our busy 3 days.

Saturday July 21st
We slept in until just after 8am!  After coffee and toast we drove to Hoedspruit to do some shopping which took a couple of hours.  After lunch I did a load of washing, put the food etc away and then sorted out the back seat of the bakkie while Kevin cleaned the inside and outside of the bakkie.

Sunday July 22nd
We decided to spend another night at this peaceful spot.  Kevin drove into Hoedspruit to get the papers and also bought chips for the guy at the campsite gate and half a loaf of bread for the guy at the main gate!

We spent a quiet day in lovely sunshine at the campsite.

Monday July 23rd
We packed up and headed for Tzaneen Nature Reserve.  At the gate I paid for 1 night’s camping with electric but when we drove to the campsite all the area near the electric points were taken up by contractors.  I hadn’t realised that it was R30 per person extra for electric..... and as there were plenty of sites away from the electric points we went back to the office, got a refund of R60 and picked a nice quiet site.
In the afternoon we had a drive around the small reserve which borders Tzaneen dam and saw several bushbuck as well as lots of birds and a few groups of monkeys.
Tuesday July 24th
We drove to Dongola Ranch, 35km to the East of Musina, where we knew that John and Darryl (who we met at Kuimba Shiri back in May) were now based.  We paid for a couple of nights which at R250 per night seemed expensive and asked where John and Darryl’s site was.  The girls at reception thought that they might have left yesterday to go to Jo’burg but on our way back to the bakkie we saw them walking towards us – great that they were still here and only planning to leave early tomorrow morning.

We drove round to the campsite but all we could see were lots of small rondavals and no camping area so we drove back to the reception area (which also has a bar, restaurant, pool, and conference centre) and by following the map they’d given us more carefully discovered that the little rondavals were the campsite units each with a kitchen area (with a kettle and electric plates), a shower, toilet and a covered outside area so, in fact, good value for R250 really.

Darryl and John arrived soon afterwards and we caught up on news and then after a shower we went to see their site.  John has bought a caravan and after their trip to Jo’burg they are going back to Cape Town to sell up/store their furniture as they’re giving up their rented house and are going to base themselves at Dongola for the foreseeable future.  If they want to travel they’ve got their small trailer and tent or they can take the caravan.  It was lovely to see them again and we spent a great evening chatting to them.
Wednesday July 25th
We spent a quiet day at Dongola.  There’s a laundry here with washing machines so I did a load, a nice change from handwashing!

There are lots of dassies, at least one group of banded mongooses and several warthogs around this site.  In the early morning the dassies spent time warming up on the rocky outcrops and in the afternoon tended to come onto the grassed areas (which are green as they are watered) to eat.  
It’s noticeably warmer here as we’re at a lower altitude and we haven’t needed our fleeces in the evenings.  There’s free wi-fi internet access at the bar/restaurant area but I couldn’t get it to work as the girl at reception didn’t have the correct code.

In the afternoon a bus arrived with around 50 schoolkids.  We’d been told about this at reception this morning but they’d said it would be primary school children but these looked more like young teenagers.  They were staying in the rondavals around the campsite many of which have a separate permanent tent with 2 single beds so we were pretty much surrounded by them!  Most of them seemed to spend the first hour or so in the pool area but I don’t know if they went into the pool at all as the water temperature was definitely cool when we tested it.  In the evening they spent most of their time rushing from 1 tent to another, most of the girls in their pyjamas and dressing gowns! The teachers were kept busy, especially one woman who seemed to be doing most of the rushing around trying to get them to bed but by 9pm most of them seemed to be in their own tent – don’t know for how long though.
Thursday July 26th
We had a reasonable night with only a couple of times hearing noisy kids but they were up early so we got up around 6.30am,  packed up and headed for the notorious Beitbridge border post.  This is the only border post between South Africa and Zimbabwe and we’ve heard stories of long, long queues so, in the past, have always gone into Zim via Botswana however this would mean an additional 300km to get to Bulawayo so we decided to give Beitbridge a go.  We got to the South African offices at 8am and were through within 20 minutes as there was no-one in the customs queue and less than a dozen waiting for immigration so with 2 desks open it didn’t take long.  The Zim side was much longer though, we were there for an hour and a half and had to go to 5 different places.  
1.  Gate pass and bridge toll ($10).  Only 1 guy ahead of us so no problems.

2. Immigration.  Again only 1 other person there but it took some time to fill in the form, then pay for our visa ($55 each) and wait for the visa certificate.

3.  Temporary Import Permit (TIP) for the vehicle and trailer.  This took ages.  We went to the desk marked TIP but were told to go to a different counter where we were told to get a TIP form from the far end of the room, fill it in and return.  We found a form, completed it and returned to the counter with just 1 person in front of us, however when he’s finally finished (needing to borrow my pen to fill in a form and sign it) we were told that we’d got the wrong form and were again told to get one from the same place as previously.  There weren’t any there but Kevin did manage to find one which I then filled in while Kevin kept our place in the queue with just 1 guy ahead of us.  Eventually we got to the counter and realised why it was taking so long to process everyone as the officer behind the desk was copying all the detail from the vehicle and trailer registration document onto his computer just using one finger – this was the same information that I’d just written on the TIP form which he pretty much ignored!  Eventually we got our TIP having paid R 570 for:
· Road access fee: 
  R90

· Carbon tax:

R130

· Car insurance:

R260

· Trailer insurance:
  R90

We returned to the bakkie and proceeded forwards only to be stopped and told to go to the police office across the road so:

4. Police. We had to go round the back of the police office and get our gate pass stamped.

5.  Customs. Finally we had to go to the tiny customs shed where they wanted the first form that we’d filled in at the TIP section.  Kevin then had to go back and drive the bakkie and trailer and park next to the shed but they didn’t bother to look anywhere, just stamped the gate pass and handed it back to me.

Finally we’d done everything without having to resort to any of the ‘helpers’ who will guide you through the formalities – for a price – and were through the border post.

We then had another 300km to travel to Bulawayo but with clear roads and only a couple of police stops we were at Southern Comfort Lodge on the outskirts of Bulawayo by 2.30pm.  The lodge had been there for several years but the small campsite is a recent addition to cater for the 4x4 fraternity who are started to return to Zim – it makes a convenient stop on the way to Hwange / Vic Falls from the Beitbridge or Plumtree (from Botswana) border posts.
We set up camp and were brought firewood (free).  There was 1 other vehicle there and were told by the guy that more people were expected over the weekend.

In the evening we went for a drink in the bar and met the friendly owners, Craig and Lesley, and their managers, Kevin and Shannon.  There were several other guys in the bar who we were introduced to who were staying in the chalets as they were attending the Mining Show which was on all week – apparently all the accommodation in town was fully booked so it’s just as well we’re camping.

Friday July 27th
We drove to the Hillside Shopping Mall (suggested by Les yesterday) and found a good TM supermarket and butchers but the meat prices seemed ridiculous - $35, as we thought, for 2 pork chops however we were tod later by Lesley that the prices were in Rand!  but there was no indication the currency on the labels so we’d assumed it was in  $ - a pity as it was excellent quality but we didn’t discover our mistake until after we’d shopped on Saturday.  We didn’t plan to leave Bulawayo for a couple of days so decided to shop on Saturday or Sunday.  We then went to Barclays Bank (again Les told us where it was as there was nothing on our GPS) where I was able to get $200 from our FNB account but it rejected my Nationwide card.  I tried the Stanbic bank across the road which has a visa sign on its ATM but I couldn’t get any money from that one either.

We then went to the Railway Museum which is behind the main railway station.  Despite the hard times in Zim it’s been kept open, thanks to volunteers, and is now starting to see more visitors and lots of school groups.  The entry fee was only $1 each!  We chatted to Gordon Murray, an ex-railway man who looks after the place, before exploring the museum.  There were lots of huge steam locomotives, the ones near the entrance have been kept in a reasonable condition but there were lots more in the shunting areas around the back that were in need of some TLC but with no funds and relying on volunteers there’s only so much that can be done.  
Bulawayo was an important station on the Cape to Cairo route and also had links to the coast at Beira (in Mozambique) for importing and exporting goods.  Most of the engines had a big coal truck behind the engine and a huge water tank either in front of the engine or behind the coal truck as the distances travelled by the trains was huge and water was not easily come by in many areas. You’re allowed to clamber up into the footplate of the engines – I struggled to reach some of the steps!
There were several carriages in a large shed several of which you can explore.  One carriage which has been kept in a good condition was the private car of Cecil Rhodes with a bedroom, bathroom, lounge area and a dining room.  After he died in South Africa it was used to transport his body from Muizenburg and Cape Town to Bulawayo as he wanted to be buried at World’s View in the Matopos Hills which are 30km to the SW of Bulawayo.

We spent a couple of hours wandering around the exhibits – well worth the visit.
We went back to the campsite, had a late lunch, did some washing and relaxed for the rest of the afternoon having decided to stay for a third night here.
More campers arrived in the afternoon and evening as they were attending an old boys’ reunion – they’d wanted to stay in the chalet but they were all still fully booked by mining guys.

Saturday July 28th
The coldest night that we’ve had so far but we were fine with our duvet and 2 blankets.  I was quite expecting to see frost in the morning but there wasn’t any.

We want to visit Hwange National park but will need $ for the entrance and campsite fees and didn’t know if we’d have enough but found that we’d be able to pay the campsite fees in Rand which should help – this was after our first trip to the shops as we’d forgotten to ask before we left.   We then went to the bank and this time managed to use the Nationwide card as well as the FNB one so we should be OK and finally shopped at TM supermarket.  Bulawayo is pretty easy to get around as it’s built on a grid system, the street are very wide – originally build like this so a team of 24 oxen could turn in the street - and many of the avenues are tree lined so it’s an attractive city.
Our messing around seemed to take most of the morning so we decided against our original intention which was to visit the Khami Ruins, a World Heritage Site about 30 km from Bulawayo – we’ll go there another time.
Back at the campsite Kevin noticed that the sidelight and indicator box on the bullbars was hanging off so he spent a couple of hours trying to fix it but in the end wasn’t able to so he covered them with tape (left and right side) as they are extra lights and the ones on the front of the vehicle work fine, it’s just that they’re a bit obscured by the bullbars.
There’s free wi-fi internet access at the Lodge which has been useful.  

In the evening we, once again, spent a convivial hour or so in the bar.  It’s interesting to chat to Lesley, Craig, Kevin and Shannon about their times in Zim (plus they’ve all spent time in the UK) and are all hopeful that Zim is on the way to recovery.
Sunday July 29th
We discovered that we’d previously met a couple who are staying at the Lodge for the reunion – Mark and Moira from Petershead, which is SE of Harare.  Moira remembered me from last Christmas at the hide overlooking the waterhole at Mapungubwe – they were staying at a nearby Safari Lodge and Mark was originally from Pietermaritzburg.

We packed up and headed NW to Hwange (pronounced Wankie) National Park.  At the Park reception office we enquired about the campsites at the picnic sites but were told that they were all fully booked so we paid for 3 nights at Main Camp, drove round to the site and found a quiet shady spot on a large campground – there were a couple of other tents and one truck there.  We were surprised to see lots of bicycles around the Reception area and also saw them at several of the chalets – it looked like there must have been some competition on over the weekend.
Late afternoon we drove out to the Nyamandhlovu Platform which is only about 11km from Main camp.  As we approached the Platform we could see loads of elephants around the waterhole – and lots of vehicles by the hide!  The pan is large and surrounded by a open grassland so there was an excellent view.  From 4pm until just after 5 we saw hundreds of elephants come down in groups to drink at the waterhole – there were never less than 20 around and often up to 80!!  There were also giraffe, zebra, impala and kudu so we had a wonderful time.  Although there were 20 or so cars parked most of the people were sitting or standing under the platform or on their vehicles so the platform wasn’t too crowded.  I, of course, took loads of photos and videos!
Back at camp the attendants, Newman and Lotsor (?) had left us some wood so we soon had a good blaze going to keep us warm although, being at a lower altitude, it wasn’t as cold as at Bulawayo – I didn’t need to put my tracksuit bottoms on during the evening.
Monday July 30th
Some Germans had arrived yesterday afternoon and when we got up they’d already left on a drive but had left all their stuff out – packets, sugar, milk, clothes etc and as there were baboons around we went and packed everything away in their trailer (luckily not locked) and left them a note.
We then went out for the day around the southern loop.  We stopped at all three picnic sites on our route to check them out.   From Main Camp to Jambili we saw very few animals but the bush was fairly thick on both sides of the road.  At the site there was a group of 8 campers who we chatted to and then walked down to a lookout point under some trees.  There was very little water in the pan and only a few birds around – plus a fairly recent elephant carcass.  After Mange Pans we started to see several groups of elephants  - partly because there’d been fire there a year or so ago so we could see much further into the bush. 

We stopped for lunch at Ngweshla Picnic Site – one of the ones that can be booked for $150 a night (up to 12 people) but according to the attendant there hadn’t been anyone there recently.  There was a group of elephants at the nearby waterhole which we could just see from the picnic site.  After lunch we parked under a tree by the waterhole and spent an hour and a half watching the animals come down to drink.  A large group of baboons were around all the time and were amusing to watch – baboons are OK in this situation when they’re not trashing your stuff at campsites!  Impala, giraffe, kudu and zebra were coming and going so there was plenty to look at.

We saw several more groups of elephants on our way to Kennedy Picnic Site (another $150 a night site with no-one there...) and on our way back to Main Camp.   It would appear that Hwange suffers from the same problem as most Southern African Parks where you’re told that sites are sully booked but you find that they’re not.  The sad thing about that in Zimbabwean Parks is that the attendants rely on tips from tourists (their wages are very low) so if people don’t turn up they are the ones that are losing out.    
The ablutions at Main Camp are looking rather sad.  Some have donkey boilers and others have electric geysers but the hot water doesn’t always run for some reason and there are tiles missing from the walls.  There are only baths in the ladies so I used the shower in the gents.  The attendants have done their best to make them to keep them clean and look nice inside with plants growing in plastic containers but without funds for maintenance it’s very difficult for them.  Sadly very little of the income from tourist visiting the Parks is made available for the upkeep of the Parks. 
Tuesday July 31st
We had a lie in and then a good cooked breakfast before going out on a drive.  We went to Guvalala Platform and on the way were lucky enough to see a leopard.  Having seen no vehicles for the first hour or so we saw a safari truck stopped on the track ahead of us with the people in the back all looking to their left so we slowly approached and I spotted the leopard on a branch in a tree about 30m from the track.  A second safari truck (from the same lodge) soon arrived.  We all sat and watched the leopard for half an hour.  To start with it had its back to us but after a while it stood up, turned around and lay down again but this time facing us so we could get some better photos.

As we approached the Platform we could see a couple of mosquito nets hanging up and a couple of guys on the platform – the platform can be booked overnight but can be used by anyone during the day.  We parked and started up the steps to the platform but were stopped by the 2 guys who said that they’d got their stuff there.  We said that they were meant to vacate the platform during the day but they insisted (and not politely) that they’d booked it for 2 nights so that they had the sole use of it during the day....  We couldn’t be bothered to argue so stood under the platform and chatted to the people from the safari truck (from Ivory Lodge).  At our request one of them went and told the 2 guys that anyone can used the platform during the day but they still didn’t make any effort to move their things.  
On our way back to Nyamandhlovu Platform we looked out for the leopard and it was still there on the same branch (about an hour after we’d seen it earlier) so took a few more photos and without the other trucks were able to position ourselves so that we got a better view without so many bushes in the way.  We spent an hour or so at Nyamanddhlovu and saw lots of animals come down to drink – there were far fewer people today as the cyclists had all left this morning.
We then drove back to camp.  I had a shower and a little later drove back to Nyamandhlovu for an hour or so, once again I saw hundreds of elephants – just amazing.

Wednesday August 1st
We packed up and were away by 8am as it was 120km to Sinamatella Camp in the northern section of the Park.  The ‘tar’ road for the first 80km is mostly in a poor condition (as we expected from driving to the Guvalala Platform yesterday) so we knew it would take a while.  We stopped at a few pans on the way, some had water pumps others didn’t and were dry - Hwange has no permanent water and without pumped water all the pans would dry up in the winter. In the late 90s the Park went through some bad times when the pumps weren’t repaired and many elephants died but the Save Hwange Trust that was set up has managed to maintain some of the old diesel pumps or replace them with solar panel powered pumps so there is more water now but the pumps can’t always keep up with the demand from so many elephants.
We stopped for lunch at the small hide near the Shumba Picnic Site (again no-one staying there) and saw plenty of animals.  There was a group of sable antelope around for an hour or so plus impala, zebra and, of course, a few elephants.  Our next stop was at the Masuma Dam Picnic Site – this times a group of 12 people were camped there.  This is a lovely spot with a hide at the site overlooking a large waterhole (Darryl had said that this was the best site in the Park).  The people there had rather taken over the hide with chairs, blankets, cameras, binoculars left around (but no people) but there was enough room for us to sit at one of the benches.  We saw hundreds of guinea fowl making their way down to the water.  They’d often go down in single file, sometimes walking, sometimes running  and then stopping for a look around from time to time before one of them would be brave enough to head on down to the water again and would then be followed by others.  We also saw waterbuck, impala, 3 hippo and small group of buffalo.
We finally arrive at Sinamatella Camp around 4pm - it had taken us 8 hours, including stops, from Main Camp.  We paid for 2 nights and drove to the campsite which is in a lovely location on a ridge overlooking the Park down below.  There was only 1 other vehicle at the site so we were able to set up camp near the edge of the ridge and could see lots of elephant down below us as there’s a river there – there’s no water running in the river but the elephants dig in the sand to reach the water table.
The camp attendant soon turned up and introduced himself, Godfrey, a very well spoken guy from Binga.  A little later he came over with some firewood and with some elephant hair bracelets that he’d made so we bought one each.  

It was much warmer this evening, we didn’t even need a fleece!  We chatted to the other campers who turned out to be a couple from the UK, Graham and Irene, who are travelling in Southern Africa for a year and had their daughter, Ruth, with them for a month.  A pity that they’re leaving tomorrow as it would have been nice to spend more time comparing journeys.  They asked us about the road between Binga and Kariba so we said that it had been OK 2 years ago but not to try to do it in a day.
Thursday August 2nd
After 4 days with quite a bit of driving we decided to spend most of the day at the camp.  I was up at 6.30am to watch the sun rise, had some coffee and did the washing up from last night while Kevin had a lie-in.  We saw prints around our trailer and Godfrey said that they were from honey badgers who regularly check out the bins during the night – none of the bins here or at Main Camp have bottoms to them due to the lack of money for maintenance.
We had coffee and rusks and then a wander around the camp which has chalets as well as a campsite.  All the chalets have been painted on the outside but not all of them have been refurbished inside.  We were able to look around one of the unit that had new electric wiring installed but nothing else so the bathroom and kitchen still needed doing up.  There used to be a large thatched bar restaurant overlooking the plains below but now it’s closed and there are holes in the thatch – what a shame.   I’ve seen plenty of birds around this site (many more that at Main Camp) so spent quite a bit of time birdwatching.

In the afternoon I drove out to Mandavu Picnic Site which is only 14km from Sinamatella.  I took the Salt Spring route and had to keep stopping as there were so many groups of elephants around – it took me 50 minutes to get to the dam!  Many of the elephants were in or around the salt pans so presumably they use it as a salt lick.  There was no-one staying at the Picnic Site (we’d been told that it was fully booked of course!) which had a great view over the dam.  There’s a covered boma overlooking the dam and on the far shore I could see lots of game, hippos, elephants and birds.  
As I was scanning the far shore with the binoculars I saw a large cat walking across an open area of grassland but before I could decide if it was a leopard or a lion it disappeared behind some rocks.  I kept looking and spotted another car lying down in the grass but with its head up – I reckoned that it was a lioness and let the 2 attendants borrow my bins to confirm that it was a lioness.  It must have been 800m away and when it lay down you couldn’t see it at all.  It was still lying there when I left at 5.15pm to drive back to camp, this time I took the ‘main’ track so it only took me half an hour. 

Friday August 3rd
During the night we heard the bins being pushed over and looked out of our ‘windows’ in time to see a couple of honey badgers running off.

After coffee and rusks we set of for a drive along the ‘river’ loop.  We didn’t see much until we reached the track which follows the course of the Lukosi River, which was dry but had water in the holes dug by the elephants and used by all the other animals.  A short while before we re-joined the main track we passed a group of around 200 buffalo munching away in the bushes.  Nearly all the vegetation in this part of the park is mopane, mostly short stunted bushes heavily cropped by the elephants but with a few trees that have grown tall enough to escape the elephants unless they push them over or strip the bark. 
 Masuma dam had much less water than 2 days ago – the pump can’t keep up with the demands from the elephants. The same group of people were camped there and soon after we arrived a herd of elephants made their way to the water outlet just below the hide.  Several of the campers then came into the hide and spoilt our time there by constantly talking rather loudly (in Afrikaans so we couldn’t understand a words) so we only stopped for half an hour or so.  
There was no-one at Mandavu Picnic Site where we had our lunch.  There were thousands of re-billed queleas in the bushes on either side of the hide making lots of noise.  Groups of them would suddenly take off and fly to another bush and occasionally when a hawk flew over they would all fall silent for 20 seconds and then start up chattering again – they were there all the time that we were in the hide.  

As we were about to leave a couple of vehicles arrived and were camping at this site.  They said they’d tried to book a site for 5 nights a few months ago but had had to drive to different sites most days as most were “fully booked”...... 
During the afternoon, a Sinamatella, 3 vehicles arrived (separately)  to camp and 1 lot said that 3 more vehicles would be joining them – they were late and didn’t arrive until 6.30pm (lucky for them that the gates were still open).  Then after 7pm 4 more vehicles arrived so there were lots of people camping that night but there was plenty of room for all of us.  The ablutions here are in a worse state that at Main Camp with no tiles at all in the showers but the donkey boiler is more reliable and there’s hot water although only for a few showers – we had our first before most of the others turned up!
Saturday August 4th
We drove back to Bulawayo, making good time although the roads were a bit busier than last Sunday.  We did some shopping and then went to Southern Comfort Lodge – just us at the campsite this time.
In the evening we ate at the restaurant.  I had steak and Kevin had fish – both good – and then we each had their speciality desert, chocolate mousse which was very rich, lovely!

Sunday August 5th
In the morning we visited the Khami Ruins which are 25km to the West of Bulawayo.  They were built after Great Zimbabwe and, superficially, look similar but at Khami the drystone walls are used to create terraces on the hillsides and the buildings (no longer any to be seen) were mud huts. This a World Heritage Site and the entrance fee was $10 each so we were disappointed that there were no information leaflets, maps of the site or information boards around the site (unlike Great Zimbabwe which has all 3). Fortunately we’d bought a leaflet about some of the ruins around Bulawayo when we’d visited the Railway Museum but the mad in the booklet was difficult to interpret.
After lunch back at the campsite we had a quiet afternoon there.
Monday August 6th
We drove to Lake Chivero and as the campsite at Kuimba Shiri was empty set up camp under our usual tree near the boma.  Later on another vehicle and trailer turned up which turned out to be a group of 6 German visitors and their guide who’s just picked them up at Harare airport.
Gary and Elcine stopped to welcome us (they’d been into Harare) and we caught up on news.

Tuesday August 7th
We’d arranged to meet Mac and Jenny for lunch at Borrowdale so spent the morning doing a load of washing, including all the bedding and put out the blankets and duvet to air – everything was dry and back in the tent before we left for Harare.
We had a very nice meal at a ‘Greek’ cafe – we both followed Mac’s advice and had a chicken wrap and a milk shake.  After lunch, having discussed what we needed to buy for our Kariba trip we all went shopping together at the TM supermarket.
.In the evening we shared a pizza at Kuimba Shiri – we’d ordered 2 but could only manage I of them so took the other one for tomorrow!  2 meals ‘out’ in one day......
Wednesday August 8th
We needed to go back into Harare for a few things we’d forgotten and to check our emails.  After a bit of shopping at Borrowdale we went to Mac and Jenny’s house as Mac had kindly said that we could use his internet.  

After lunch back at the campsite we spent the afternoon re-packing the bakkie and trailer as we’re leaving the trailer at Lake Chivero while we’re in Kariba.

Thursday August 9th
No rush this morning as we arranged to meet Mac and Jenny at Lon’s Den (only 150km) for a streak roll at 1pm before carrying on to Kariba – they arrived less than 1 minute after us, how’s that for timing.  After an excellent steak roll we followed them to Charawa Harbour where their boat was, Mac having taken it down to Kariba last weekend after a year in his garden in Harare where he’d done quite a bit of work on it  - he’d had the same yacht, which he built himself, for 20 years.
It took some time to move everything from the vehicles to the boat but we managed it before it got too dark.  Although their trimaran is smaller than the Tiki that we sailed on back in May it has a much larger proper cabin and loads of storage space, I was amazed how everything from all the boxes we’d brought got loaded into various compartments.

We drove to Warhogs Bush Camp for our evening meal, which took a while to arrive as there were lots of people there, but we all had a good meal.

Mac and Jenny slept outside on the back deck while Kevin and I slept in the 2 bunks inside the cabin, which were fine.
Friday August 10th
Up at 6.30am and then took 4 hours to get everything ready for putting the boat in the water and setting sail.  There wasn’t much wind so we had to use the motor for quite a bit of time as when we did get some wind it was blowing in completely the wrong direction – of course!  
We made it to a quiet bay on the mainland opposite Fothergill Island by late afternoon, in time to light a fire and cook wors and chicken wings.

Saturday August 11th
Had a lazy morning in the bay.  Mac and Kevin did some alterations to a few items on the boat and made a couple of crayfish traps. We saw impala come down to graze and later a couple of elephants had a drink.  One of them stayed around for a while and found a mud pool for a splash around.  

In the afternoon we went out onto the lake for a quick swim, the water was quite cool but very refreshing.  We then met up with Howard and Lizzie, who Mac and Jenny know well, they have the same type of boat.  We all went back to the same bay for the evening but tied up in a different place with a nice sandy beach.  The water in the bay was dead calm and the reflections of the trees in the water were lovely – many of the trees near the lake still have leaves on them.  In the evening Kevin lit a small fire on the beach on which we cooked spaghetti bolognaise and bread.
Sunday August 12th
 We sailed to Gordon’s Bay.  I did quite a bit of steering with Mac giving me some instructions to help me understand how to ‘read’ the sails.  There wasn’t much wind but it was interesting to find how differently his yacht reacted compared with the larger tiki that we’d sailed back in May, the smaller trimaran is much more responsive but means that you have to concentrate all the time else you go off course.  Mac does have an auto-pilot which can be useful if the wind is light and consistent.
There were several hippo and a few crocs around the bay but not too close to us.

In the afternoon we sailed out to a small rocky island and dropped the crayfish traps.....

This evening Howard cooked a very tasty roast beef with vegetable on his Cobb braai while Mac did breakfast bread on his Cobb.  The bread was OK but we decided that the fire was a little too much, he’ll try again another time.

Monday August 13th
Sadly no crayfish in the traps – we’ll try again another time.  We put up a different genoa sail which is larger than the one that we’ve used over the past few days.
Much more wind today but, of course, coming from the wrong direction for us and the lake was very choppy.  Mac had to go into the water to fix the keel as the wind was pushing us sideways.  Jenny and Mac did all of the steering today with Kevin and I trying not to get in the way and also trying to keep out of the spray.  The wind increased during the morning and we all got rather wet as we sailed.  We found a bay to moor in and eventually found a good place but it took a while to get there as there was lots of weed that kept getting tangles up in the propeller.  There were several elephants around the bay and one old bull just across the inlet from us eating the grass in the water.  He wasn’t at all bothered by us.   
Tuesday August 14th
We sailed to one of the bays at Elephant Point as we’d been told that lion and buffalo had been seen there but there was no sign of them where we went.

Wednesday August 15th
When I got up to take sunrise photos I could see a large bull elephant only 10m from Howard’s boat picking up the grass in the shallow water!  We all sat and watched it for some time until it moved off into the bush.
We spent most of the day in the bay chatting, eating, reading and watching animals.  In the afternoon we sailed around to a nearby bay and found a nice spot with a good shady tree nearby. 
In the late afternoon we put out the crayfish traps and a little later when Howard had a look there was 1 crayfish!  

Kevin lit a fire on the beach to burn rubbish and after our meal he checked the fire and then, as he was getting back on board, saw a crayfish in the shallow water near the front of the boat so he called Mac over who managed to catch it.  We then noticed that the old smelly chicken giblets that we’d put in the traps had come out and were near the shore and this was what the crayfish were after.  We spent the next hour putting more giblets in the water and shining our torches to find crayfish.  We spotted lots of them but most of them escaped – they can move surprisingly quickly.  We had a great evening and ended up with half a dozen fairly small crayfish . 

Thursday August 16th
Howard cooked the crayfish which we all, except Lizzie, enjoyed.  

We were only travelling a short way today so spent the morning in the bay and then had a good sail to Senyati West.
We had lots of trees to negotiate today and had to sail a long way out to avoid many of them.  As we approached Senyati West we had to find a way through what appeared from a distance to be a forest of dead trees however as we got closer we were able to find a deep channel through to the bay.  The lake was very calm on the approach to the bay and we could see lots of elephants on the shore so I took lots of photos of the dead trees and their reflections and, of course, just a few of elephants!

When we arrived in the bay there was 1 houseboat already moored. We tried several different places to tie up near some shade but everywhere was too shallow for our yachts, we also had to negotiate patched of weed which got caught up in the prop if Mac didn’t lift it out of the water in time.  We eventually gave up on finding shade a found a small beach with enough room for our 2 yachts.  Later in the afternoon more houseboats appeared and by sunset there were 5 off them around us however, fortunately, none of them had noisy generators on.
Mac has now made several beer breads and breakfast breads in his Cobb and has perfected the technique so we’re getting lovely bread.

Friday August 17th
We sailed back to the bay opposite Fothergill Island where we’d stopped the first couple of nights.  The wind was, once again, in the wrong direction but it was a pleasant sail in calm water.  We saw plenty of elephants and hippo along the shoreline.  
In the evening we had a braai with steak, wors and chicken wings plus baked potatoes and butternut  
– plenty for everyone!

Saturday August 18th
We set off quite early as it’s a long way to Kariba – around 30km.  There was good wind to start with – and in the right direction so we made good time for the first couple of hours, often over 6 knots.  Then the wind died but we carried on with the sails and as we approached Kariba the wind picked up again and we had a great sail back to the marina, arriving soon after midday.
After lunch we unpacked most of the stuff from the boat (everything except what we needed for tonight as we’re sleeping on board) and then had the boat pulled out of the water and back to its place in the marina. 

Sunday August 19th
It took us a couple of hours to clear the yacht and pack everything away in Mac and Jenny’s bakkie, said goodbye, and  then we set off back to Harare.  
We got back to Lake Chivero around 2pm, shared a pizza and chips and then hooked up the trailer and moved it to the campsite.
Monday August 20th
 I repacked the trailer and bakkie while Kevin did odd jobs and washed our clothes.  We then needed to go into Harare for shopping, getting some cash and using the internet.  The first 2 tasks proved easy but getting internet access was a mission – it took us the best part of 3 hours and involved trying at Arundel and then Borrowdale centres.  When we eventually got it to work back at Arundel I could receive emails and was able to transfer some UK money to pay for the Lakefield carpet but wasn’t able to send any emails – very frustrating.  

Tuesday August 21st
We were up early and away by 8am as we intended travelling to Mozambique today.  We made reasonable time to Mutare despite some slow traffic and were at the border post soon after midday.  The Zim side was very easy, we didn’t even have to fill in a ‘departures’ form but the Moz formalities were more of a pain.  Last time we’d come through this border post back I June it had been a breeze but the guy ‘helping’ us this time was a pain.  He got me filling in the ‘arrivals’ forms for customs and meanwhile took the vehicle and trailer documents off for the TIP (temporary import permit).  He came back with the TIP form which he proceeded to fill in while we got out passports stamped.  We then got the gate pass for immigration and customs stamped and he took us to the insurance office where we paid R230 for the bakkie and trailer – so far so good.  He then asked for R100 for the TIP from which he still had hold of.  I asked for a receipt but he said they weren’t issued so then I said we’d go and ask at the TIP office.  On the way there he firstly changed the amount to M100 and later to M50.  He then said the cost was M25 but that he’d given the official M50 and there wasn’t any change available.  I waited and spoke to the official but he only spoke Portuguese and said he had no change for M50.  I asked for a receipt and after some time he eventually found a book and gave me one.  Neither of us remember having to pay for the TIP previously and as there obviously wasn’t an official receipt book it was obviously a scam between the officials and ‘helpers’. The trailer and bakkie were then ‘searched’ by a policewoman who spent all the time speaking on a cell phone while our ‘helper’ said we ought to give her some cash otherwise she would so a long, long search.  I didn’t believe him and said that we weren’t in any hurry and a few minutes later she waved us on (still chatting on her phone).  At the gate we handed in our pass and were, once again, asked to show them the contents of the trailer, however when Kevin stood there with the keys to the trailer and asked “which door do you want opened” they seemed to lose interest and waved us through!  We spent around 50 minutes at the Moz border post so were glad that we only had another 60km to the campsite at Lake Chicambe that we’d stayed at in June.  It was in no better condition and there was no hot water in either the ladies or gents but it’s a convenient place to stay on the way to the Moz coast.
Wednesday August 22nd
Drove to Blue Waters Camp near Vilanculo (we’d stayed here in June).  This time there were several other people camping and staying in chalets.
Thursday August 23rd
On our way into Vilanculo we stopped at the fish stall of the guy that we’d bought from in June.  He had some fresh prawns so we bought a couple of kilo and ordered a fish for tomorrow.

They were doing the road up outside the internet cafe so we had to go around the back along some narrow sandy tracks.  We had a drink and shared a pancake while we checked out our emails and, this time, managed to send some (I hope).  

On the way back to the camp we stopped at a couple of roadside stalls to buy bread rolls (M10 for 4 rolls – about R4) and coconuts which were only M5 each.

We spent the afternoon at the campsite.  We had half of the prawns in ginger and garlic with some salad for our tea – they tasted excellent.

Friday August 24th 
We drove into Vilanculo to get fuel (expensive at around $1.80 per litre) and more cash and then bought bread rolls on our way back to the campsite where we spent the rest of the day.  We had a walk along the beach and a swim before lunch, chatted to some of our neighbours and then Kevin relaxed in the hammock while I did some photo sorting.

The fish we’d ordered never arrived so we had bolognaise with pasta instead.
Saturday August 25th
We took our time over packing up as we were only going just over 200km today to Pomeme (as recommended by Moira and Mark from Peterhouse in Zim).  We’d hoped to buy prawns on our way out but the ‘shop’ was closed.

We knew that the last 50km was on a sand road and to start with it was a well kept road however one into the Pomene National Park (M200 entry fee per person, M200 for a vehicle and M50 for a trailer) it became narrower and the sand was much softer.  We stopped to let the tyres down to 1.8 bar and later had to stop again to let them down to 1.2 bar which got us through the soft sand easily.  Some of the track was through mangrove forests and we were glad that there was no-one coming the other way as there were no passing places.  We drove through Pomane village and onto the Lodge which is in a lovely location on a peninsula between the sea and a lagoon.  There were plenty of large campsites to choose from, most had barracas (reed huts) but as these cost an extra R180 we choose one of the sites with shady trees but no barraca and after a late lunch set up camp.
From our site we could just see the sea over the low dunes and in the afternoon Kevin spotted a whale out at sea.  We watched it for ages sticking a fin out of the water and then slapping it on the surface.

The wind got up in the afternoon and we moved the bakkie to try and get some shelter from it.  It kept blowing strongly all evening but Kevin managed to cook on the coals.

Sunday August 26th
During the night the wind dropped and the morning was lovely.  We went for a walk along the beach and around to the lagoon.  Most of the lagoon is very shallow and when the tide is out only the main channel has water.  There were several large groups of flamingos feeding in the shallow water and a few local fishermen out with nets or boats.

Late morning, at high tide, we both went snorkelling at the pontoon near the dive centre where several old cars  and tyres have been dumped in  the water to provide a false reef for the fish.  It was a bit murky because of the wind causing small waves but there were lots of fish around with some big groups of large grey fish just below the surface and I saw a ray with a long tail swimming below me.

The Lodge offers lots of activities and I spoke to Craig about one of the diving options.  He offered a 2 day course with a starter session in the pool followed by a dive in the lagoon and then a sea dive the following day so I booked that for Tuesday and Wednesday.
Monday August 27th
In the morning the flysheet on the tent was wet from the drops of salty dew from the pine trees and everything under the trees was wet – it had sounded like soft rain during the night.  After breakfast we walked along to have a look at the campsites overlooking the lagoon and decided to move there as we were going to be stopping another 3 nights.  There are only 4 sites there and one was already taken by a couple of guys with jet skies who turned out to be from Nottingham Road so we selected a site with a good view over the lagoon and some shady pine trees for us to sit under.
In the afternoon it turned windy and cloudy and we even had a few spots of rain but our new site was more protected from the wind that the one on the sea side.  I spoke to Craig about the diving and he said that the weather report wasn’t too good for the next couple of days and that the sea would be too rough for a dive but said that I could do the pool and lagoon dive tomorrow, to which I agreed. 
In the evening we ate at the restaurant.  Before the meal we sat in the bar chatting to a couple, Paul and Siobhan, from Jo’burg who were also camping with their 2 kids.  They’d also ordered a meal so we decided to eat together.  Kevin  and I shared snails for a starter and then I had a crab curry and Kevin and a fish steak.  My crab came with all the shell on and a board to crack the claws and then I used my fingers to scoop out the meat from the body – it was excellent!

Tuesday August 28th
After breakfast I met Craig at the pool at 9am and after going through the paperwork he explained what we’d be doing in the pool.  We then kitted up and spent an hour or so in the pool with Craig explaining and showing me what to do and then me trying it out.  Firstly was learning to breathe through the airhose, blowing water out of it and then retrieving it underwater, all of these I was able to do easily.  We then went through a few other procedures the final one being clearing a mask filled with water and then removing and replacing the mask underwater.  I found this the most difficult task but eventually got the hang of it.  We then went down into the deep end using the airbags to be able to lie just above the bottom of the pool.  After that we got out and he said to meet down at the dive centre for our lagoon dive at high tide which was at 1.30pm.

We kitted up and walked into the water and then swam out to the wrecks near the pontoon where we’d been snorkelling a couple of days ago.  To start with there was a bit of a current stirring up the bottom and it was difficult to see anything but after a while it calmed down and I spent an hour swimming around enjoying all the different fishes with Craig following me all the time to keep an eye on me – wonderful.
In the late afternoon the skies cleared and the wind died down so we had a lovely evening sitting by the fire overlooking the lagoon.

Wednesday August 29th
After a couple of cloudy days it was lovely to wake to clear blue skies and see the beautiful colours of the flamingos on the lagoon.  Each morning we’ve been visited by some of the local women with produce to sell and over the past few days we’ve bought bananas, paw-paws, tomatoes, peppers and lettuce, a little over-priced I reckon but it’s a long way to any shops!  We’re also buying rolls from the restaurant – Mozambique is the only southern African country where we tend not to make our own bread as the local rolls are so good.
In the afternoon we drove out to The Old Hotel a few kilometres away.  The hotel has not been used since the mid 70s but is still standing and in a wonderful location on a small hill overlooking the bay.  Apparently it’s recently been bought by developers and will be rebuilt – not doubt well out of our price range though.  We had a good look around – the patio tiles are still in place and not cracked and much of the concrete is still in good condition which bears testament to the quality of the original buildings.  We then walked up onto the cliffs with the sea pounding the rocks below and saw plenty of whales out a sea, mostly a long way out.  There was one guy fishing on the rocks.  We then walked down to the sandy bay behind the hotel which had a sheltered bay so I had a swim and we then explored some of the rock pools nearby.

Thursday August 30th
We spent most of the morning giving the bakkie, trailer and tent a good sort out.  We put all the sheets, blankets pillows and mattress out to air while we tried to get rid of as much sand as possible and tidy things up.

In the late afternoon we went snorkelling but it was surprisingly murky considering that there hadn’t been much wind and also very busy with a dozen other people also out there so after a while we swam back across the lagoon to our site.

In the evening we ate at the restaurant again, having just about run out of food (apart from tins).  We’d ordered savoury pancakes and snails for starters and then one crab curry between us for the main course.  The pancake was huge and filled with a bolognaise type sauce.  When the main course arrived they brought 2 crabs – we pointed out that we’d only ordered 1 and they said no problem just eat what you want so we each had a ‘body’ and then Kevin managed to polish off a couple of claws as well (and they only charged us for 1 crab).
Friday August 31st
When we got up it was a lovely clear morning and there was a large group of flamingos quite close to us – the nearest they’ve been – typical on the morning that we’re leaving!

We were away soon after 7am and reached Maxixe late morning.  We found a Barclays Bank and got some cash but couldn’t see a supermarket so carried on to Inhambane, arriving just before midday.  We bought some meat and prawns from The Meat Shop and just got to the beer place before it shut at 12pm.  We then did some shopping at the Chinese supermarket before heading on to Barra.  As it looked as if the tide was out we decided to drive to the lighthouse campsite via the beach road.  We let the tyres down before we started on the sand but had to stop and let them down again on a very soft sandy corner.  Then as we approached the concrete ramp up to the lighthouse we could see that part of the concrete had been washed away so we had to turn around and drive back along the beach road and then in via the sandy track we’d used when we came here back in June.
At the campsite we were able to stay at the same place we’d been at last time with a great view out over the bay.  There was one other couple there, Darin and Ade, (from Oz) who are spending 4 months travelling in Southern Africa.

As the tide came in we could see it getting very close to the houses on the beach and when we spoke to Dennis he said that one of the owners was putting put 7m poles down into the sand to support the apartments and had put down lots of huge sand bags to keep the water from washing away the foundations.  Later on we went down to the beach and could see the sandy getting washed away in the high tide – in fact they had to move a sign post and a boat out of the way  in front of the bar so that a couple of vehicles could drive out.  
In the evening we cooked mussels that we’d bought yesterday in Pomene and kept in sea water in a container in the fridge.  

Saturday September 1st
I must have had a ‘bad’ mussel as I didn’t feel too good today so we had a quiet day at the campsite.  I rested and slept a bit in the tent in the afternoon.

 Yesterday Dennis had said he’d cook stuffed calamari tonight for us and the other couple but I didn’t feel like it so I went to bed and had an early night.  Kevin said the food was great (as it was last time).
Sunday September 2nd
It was very windy during the night but our spot is quite sheltered so we were OK.  I felt much better today but still took things easy.  It was overcast for most of the day but the wind had eased so it was fine sitting out overlooking the bay and watching fishing boats, swimmers, canoeists and people exploring the rock pools at low tide.  We’ve seen whales every day.  Sometimes we just see them ‘blowing’ or their backs humping out of the water but on other occasions they slap their flippers on the water or even jump head first out of the sea and then make a huge splash as they land on their side.
High tide was in the late afternoon and the sea is getting noticeably closer to the buildings on the beach, the ones that have got the extra support should be OK but there the bar and the apartments with the green roofs to the right of the bar will have big problems if they don’t do something similar – but it will cost.....
We’d bought some frozen prawns on Friday in Inhambane and intended having them for our tea tonight but when I got them out of the fridge I didn’t like the smell of them so ended up throwing them away – we had chicken peri-peri instead.

Monday September 3rd
Originally we’d intended going to Inhambane to do some shopping but after chatting to Dennis decided to wait until tomorrow as we wanted to buy prawns and he said that prawns sold on Monday were often ones that had been caught on Friday.  We were glad that we stayed at the campsite as it was a lovely sunny day.  I felt fine today so after lunch we had a long walk along the beach at low tide checking out the rock pools – I snorkelled in a couple of them.  When the tide turned the waves started crashing in over the rocks and gradually filling the pools.  We then walked around the point to the sandy bay and had a drink in the bar, which gave us the opportunity to check out what damage the high tides had done at closer quarters, before returned to our site.

Late afternoon another vehicle arrived with 3 guys who’d left Swaziland at 3am this morning....!!
We had no meat or fish left (apart from in tins) so I made a Spanish omelette with mushrooms, tomatoes, potatoes and cheese.  Dennis joined us having provided all us campers with a dish of crab curry which was delicious and went very well with the omelette.

Tuesday September 4th
Chatted to Andy (from Swaziland) about places to visit in Zambia where he’s spent lots of time and marked a few on our map.

We went into Inhambane and parked near the Chinese supermarket.  Just as we were getting out the car a guy arrived with a bowl of fruit so I bought some bananas and oranges from him and then a lady turned up with prawns so we bought 2kg for M500 and then 3 calamari for M160.  After going to the bank we bought chicken and cheese from The Meat Shop, a few items from the supermarket and then fruit and veg from the market.  We then drove round to the internet cafe but the electric was off so we then went to Dennis’s backpackers lodge and cafe which is near the harbour.  We had coffee and chocolate cake with Dennis and were thinking of leaving when the 3 guys who’d been at the campsite arrived so we stayed for another hour or so.  They’d decided not to go to Beira or Gorongosa but to visit Gonerezhou instead so I showed them some photos that we’d taken back in May and also showed then the broken bridge and the new causeway to use instead.  They didn’t leave Inhambane until around 1pm and were intending driving to Vilanculos.
Back at the internet cafe the power was back on so we spent an hour and a half there checking emails, doing some bank stuff and waiting for the Norton internet security data to download.  It cost M1 per minute so good value.  It was rather frustrating as I wasn’t able to send any emails from my windows mail software so had to move things from there to the squirrel mail that we can access via internet explorer.  At least we didn’t mind being inside as it was quiet cool today with a few short showers in the morning.
Once we’d returned to the campsite I started cleaning the prawns and then got David, Dennis’s kitchen guy, to show me how to clean the calamari, which ended up with my hands being covered in black ink – but I managed not to get any on my clothes at least.  
We chatted to Darin and Ade for a while about places to go etc and they let me have some Lonely Planet info they’d got about some African Countries.  We’d put them off visiting Gorongosa on this trip (a long way there and back and expensive to stay there) so they’ve decided to go to Pomene for a few days and then head back towards Kruger and then Botswana and Namibia.

Later when Dennis arrived he said that they were not the calamari that he uses as they tended to be a bit tough.  We did as he suggested which was to blanche them and then leave them in milk.  I then cut them into strips and we fried them with some of the prawns and added them to a pasta packet mix.  I think that we fried them for too long as the calamari was a bit rubbery.  We really need a different pan, perhaps a wok, for when we want to fry stuff on a high heat.
Wednesday September 5th
Darin and Ade left in the morning so it was just us at the campsite today.  I did quite a bit of work on the photos and website.
A large vehicle arrived at the beach in the afternoon and we next saw some long poles being driven into the sand in front of the apartments.  They were using sea water, which was being pumped down a tube beside the upright pole, to push it down into the sand.

In the late afternoon it looked like rain so we used our braai pan in one of the bomas for cooking our prawns.

Thursday September 6th
We decided to stay for another day at Barra and spent some of the morning tidying up the bakkie and trailer.

The weather was very changeable with occasional showers (it had rained during the night) and sunny periods but mostly cloudy.  There was quite a strong wind but it was from the East so we were well protected and hardly noticed it.  The work down at the beach continued with more posts being put in.  
During one of the sunnier patches I, at last, managed to get a few photos of a whale jumping out of the water.
Dennis offered to cook for us tonight so we had one of his lovely stuffed calamari, prawns and fish suppers – yum!

Friday September 7th
Packed up and drove to Dennis’s cafe in Inhambane to pick up some prawns that he’d bought for us.  He’d told us that it was a public holiday today to mark the end of the civil war, however pretty well all the shops and stalls were open but we did see quite a few people in uniform so we thought there might be a parade later on.

We then headed south for a couple of hundred kilometres and stopped at Sunset Beach Lodge.  We thought that the price was expensive for camping at R150 pppn but you did get your own personal toilet, shower and small kitchen area.  The campsites were small and several were under trees so only a few are any good for rooftop tents but we eventually managed to find somewhere for the trailer and got it level by using several bricks.  The campsite is very sheltered and a couple of hundred metres from the sea.
We had a drink in the bar which is a lovely location overlooking the sea – there’s a huge deck and a pool but it was very windy so we stayed inside.

The water in ‘our’ shower was only just warm so we got the keys for the one opposite.

Saturday September 8th
It started raining during the night and rained on and off all day so we spent most of the time in the small covered kitchen area.  I caught up with sorting my photos while Kevin read.
We did go for a walk down to the beach during one of the dry spells but couldn’t paddle in the sea as there were sharp rocks between the sandy beach and the sea and we didn’t have our sandals on.

In the afternoon Kevin saw a scorpion in the shower.  After I’d taken a photo of it I got a log and killed it and then removed it with a shovel – it had a small sting and large pinchers so was one of the less poisonous ones but I’d still rather it wasn’t around!
I cleaned half of the prawns and put ones that were still frozen back in the fridge.  Prawns, salad and bread for our tea.
Sunday September 9th
We drove south to Bilene and stopped at Palmeiros Lodge – we’d stayed here when we were in Moz 4 years ago.  It was busy, mainly with day visitors but there were only a couple of other campers so we got a shady pitch at the back of the site.  It took us ages to get the trailer into position as there were some trees in the way – our fault as we should have had a better look at the sites before driving to them.  Soon after we’d put the tent up we could hear heavy machinery close by and discovered that our side is very close to the road so we’re hoping that it’s going to be OK as I’ve paid for 2 nights here.
The lodge is next to a large lagoon which only gets the sea coming into it at very high tides.  We’ve had several of these lately so the lagoon so looking beautiful at the moment.

I cleaned the rest of the prawns and we had some of them with Bombay potatoes and rice.

We had a drink in the bar and on our way back to our site saw that one of the day visitors’ cars was stuck in the soft sand (they were part of a large muslim group that we’d seen on the beach by the lagoon earlier this afternoon).  We ended up pulling them out with the bakkie and our tow rope for which they were very grateful.  They gave us a bag of oranges and bananas!

In the early evening we could hear music from a bar down the road but luckily it didn’t go on for too long – there was also competition from the frogs and cicadas, the first that we’ve heard in Moz.

Monday September 10th
We drove into the village in the hope of finding a shop but the one on the GPS was closed down so we parked up and went round the market.  There were loads of people in the bread shop – some of the guys were buying 30 or 40 loaves – but I didn’t have to wait too long.  After getting some vegetables we went back to the campsite. The other 2 lots of campers left in the morning so apart from a few people staying in the chalets it’s just us here.
Nice and quiet at our site today and lovely fine weather all day.  In the morning the lagoon was flat calm and we attempted to go for a swim but it was very shallow for a long way so just had a lie down in the water.  In the afternoon the wind picked up and there were waves on the lagoon – and 1 guy kite surfing – but our campsite was very sheltered amongst the trees.  There are plenty of birds around the site but most are quite difficult to spot among the trees.

Tuesday September 11th
Packed up and drove to Swaziland and then back into South Africa.  We took Dennis’s route which avoids Maputo which, for the most part was OK.  The first 20km was through sugar cane fields and past a huge sugar factory then it became a gravel road for the next 100km with very little traffic apart from the occasional lorry or tractor – we continued to drive past sugarcane fields for some time.  After we crossed the main Maputo to Komartipoort road we were on a tar road – well it used to be a tar road but is now full of potholes and was much worse than the gravel road!  We reached the Moz/Swazi border and were through border controls on both sides very quickly.
We’d intended stopping for a couple of nights in Swaziland but when we stopped at the entrance gate to Magadzavane Lodge the guy said that the campsite was 17km away so we decided to push on to Phongola instead.  The Swazi/South African border was also very quick despite the fact that there was a coach with a tour group ahead of us and we weren’t even asked about wood/meat/fruit and veg never mind being searched so we were at Phongola Nature Reserve by 3pm.  
We noticed that the ground looked very muddy and the couple camping there said they’d had lots of rain from Thursday to Sunday.  There was no-one camping at the big open area near the dam so we set up camp there.

Wednesday September 12th
Apart from driving to the shop for a few things we spent the day at the campsite.  I did a lot of birdwatching while Kevin mostly read.

In the late afternoon 4 vehicles, 2 with camp trailers and 2 with boats turned up and set up camp quite close to us - they were quite noisy shouting across to one another.

Thursday September 13th
Yesterday we’d decided to have another night here but weren’t so sure this morning as the large group were rather noisy last night and this morning another lot turned up at 7am and had their radio going as they were setting up camp.  As it promised to be a lovely day we decided to stay but moved to one of the quieter bush camp sites.

In the afternoon storm clouds started to appear to the south and gradually rolled towards us.  We had a couple of small showers and rather than put up the awning moved our chairs to the covered area  by the ablutions.  We decided to take our braai pan to the covered area and were very glad we did as there was lots of thunder, lightning and rain during the evening.
Friday September 14th 
It was very windy during the night but the tent was OK.  By morning the wind and rain had given way to grey skies so we packed up and headed south.  We stopped at the Conqueror outlet in Richards Bay and then visited their other showroom in Empangeni.  We’d originally intended to stay overnight in Richards Bay but it had rained on and off all morning so we continued south eventually stopping at Mtunzini.  It was still raining so we enquired about chalets at Umlalazi but they were fully booked so we went to Fish Eagles self-catering cottages instead, R550 for the 2 of us in a comfortable 2 bedroom chalet.

Saturday September 15th
Still raining in the morning so we gave up the idea of a couple of nights camping at Umlalazi and returned to Richmond.

